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I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

1. The trial court erred in relying upon non-existent and otherwise inadmissible 

testimony by treating physician Dr. Walter Wolfe. 

2. The trial court erred by materially mischaracterizing the testimony of Dr. 

Thomas Austin. 

3. The trial court erred in finding that Dr. Dave David was qualified as an expert 

witness in this case and that his testimony was relevant and reliable. 

4. The trial court erred in finding that plaintiffs expert, Dr. Dave David, proved 

that UMMC breached the standard of care, proximately and foreseeably causing Ms. Ward's 

alleged severe infection and hysterectomy on or about April 5,2002. 

5.  The trial court erred in any reliance upon the OBIGYN department's student 

practice guidelines as the standard of care in this case. 

6 .  The trial court erred in denying the University of Mississippi Medical 

Center's ("UMMC") motion for directed verdict (involuntary dismissal). 

11. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON CROSS-APPEAL 

A. Plaintiff inappropriately requested an additur for non-economic damages. 

B. An award for additional damages or additur is unsupported by case law. 

C. The evidence presented at trial does not support the current award of damages 

nor an additional award for damages. 

111. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Reply to Plaintiff's Statement of the Facts 

Following the Cesarean delivery ofher second child at UMMC on March 14,2002, 

Ms. Earquella Ward spiked asingleelevated temperature of 102.8 on March 18,2002, which 

promptly returned to normal. She also had a single finding of a tender uterus, which also 



promptly returned to normal. Ms. Ward was diagnosed with presumed EMM (endometritis) 

based on her clinical symptoms and her post-delivery state, a diagnosis that Ms. Ward agrees 

is correct. EMM can be caused by an infection or inflammation such as ffom an IUD or a 

decidual cast (a blood clot with some retainedproducts ofconception after delivery.) (T. 143- 

144,258-259.) 

Dr. Thomas Austin, the resident physician who evaluated Ms. Ward's symptoms on 

March 18, first considered a plan in his progress notes to perform several diagnostic tests (a 

CBC, urinalysis, and blood cultures) listed in the laboratory section of the OBIGYN student 

practice guidelines. (R.E. 11, p. 2.) He also planned to prescribe IV Unasyn, one of the 

antibiotics recommended for EMM by the guidelines. (R.E. 11, p. 3.) An order for the 

laboratory tests does not appear in the medical records, possibly because the laboratory tests 

were deemed unnecessary where Dr. Austin and his supervisors felt that the diagnosis of 

presumed EMM was correct. (T. 530-539.) However, Dr. Austin did write an order for the 

IV Unasyn to be given every 6 hours, which Ms. Ward received for 42 hours (7 doses). The 

Unasyn was received approximately 48 hours after the decline of her fever (100.4 or greater) 

where her temperature fell prior to the first dose of Unasyn. Dr. Martin, one of the faculty 

creators of the guideline manual, testified the current practice in treatment for EMM is 24-48 

hours of antibiotic therapy. (T. 53 1-532.) Ms. Ward's symptoms returned to normal and she 

was discharged onMarch 20. During her hospitalization, Ms. Ward's incision healed without 

drainage or other adverse symptoms. 

Plaintiffltrial court asserted that the CBC, urinalysis, and blood cultures considered 

by Dr. Austin were the "proper" laboratory tests to diagnose EMM pursuant to UMMC's 

student guidelines, misleadingly asserting that the guidelines required the laboratory tests. 

Nonetheless, EMM was diagnosed and treated in keeping with the guidelines. (Brief of 



Appellee, p. 4; R.E. 10, pp.1-2,10,13; R.E. 7, pp.1,2,6.) Plaintiffltrial court also asserted that 

UMMC should have performed a wound culture on Ms. Ward on March 18, ignoring that 

Ms. Ward had no adverse incision symptoms with no drainage from which to obtain the 

culture on March 18-20. (Brief of Appellee, p. 8; R.E. 2, p. 23; R.E. 7, p. 6; R.E. 10, pp. 

10,13; T. 228,427-428, 435, 538; T.E. D-l,44-45, 124.) Finally, Dr. David asserted that 

UMMC should have continued the Unasyn for48 hours (believing that she had only received 

it for 24 hours), and plaintiffltrial court added without expert support that she should have 

received the Unasyn until she had been free of smutoms for 48 hours. (Brief of Appellee, 

p. 4; R.E. 7, pp. 2,6; R.E. 10,pp. 2,10,13; T. 288-289.) 

During a home visit on March 27, 2002, a health department nurse removed Ms. 

Ward's incision bandage. She documented that Ms. Ward's incision had a nodule abscess 

with slightly brownish purulent drainage on the skin surface with redness and swelling 

observed when she pulled the dressing off. (T.E. P-2,3 1 .) Noting Ms. Ward had developed 

a fever of 100.4, the nurse recommended that Ms. Ward go to the OB Receiving Unit at 

UMMC for a physician assessment of the wound, which Ms. Ward did later that day. 

At UMMC, treating physician Dr. Ty Robinson had no knowledge ofthe observations 

of the home nurse, but examined Ms. Ward himself in detail. (R.E. 4, p. 5-6.). Dr. Robinson 

noted Ms. Ward's temperature as 101.1 at that time, and her incision had swelling but no 

redness. He physically drained the portion of Ms. Ward's incision displaying symptoms, 

finding only clear seroma drainage more indicative of inflammation than infection, with no 

finding of purulent drainage inside or outside the wound noted. After his evaluation, Dr. 

Robinson did not believe that Ms. Ward had an infected incision. However, the treatment 

Dr. Robinson provided was curative of an infection ifthere had been one - opening, cleaning, 

and draining the wound, instructions on continued wound care at home using hydrogen 



peroxide and Q-tips, and a prescription for the oral antibiotic Keflex. After this treatment, 

Ms. Ward testified that her fever disappeared, she "felt okay", and she experienced no more 

problems similar to what she had before she went to the hospital. (T. 348.) 

The plaintiffltrial court and Dr. David complained that Dr. Robinson should have 

performed a CBC, blood culture, and wound culture on March 27, based solely on the home 

nurse's observations of redness and purulent drainage, ignoring Dr. Robinson's detailed 

examination where he found no redness nor purulent drainage. (Brief of Appellee, p. 5; R.E. 

3, p. 7-8; R.E. 4, pp. 5, 8-10, 12-15, 17,21-23; R.E. 7, pp. 1,3,6.; R.E. 10, pp. 2-3, 10,13; 

T. 271-277,283-284.) Again based solely on the home nurse's observations, plaintifutrial 

court and Dr. David asserted that an oral antibiotic was not the proper route for an alleged 

incision infection, and plaintifgtrial court again expanded his opinion without expert support, 

stating that Keflex was an improper antibiotic and Ms. Ward should have been hospitalized. 

(Brief of Appellee, p.5; R.E. 10, pp. 10,13; R.E. 7, p. 6; T. 284.) 

Approximately nine days later on April 5, 2002, Ms. Ward developed the entirely 

new symptom of heavy vaginal bleeding and was taken by her father to the emergency 

department of Central Mississippi Medical Center (CMMC). She was examined by the 

emergency department physician who made no mention of potential infection. Ms. Ward's 

temperature was normal, the white blood count in her CBC was normal, and her vital signs 

were normal. (T. 437.) An ultrasound showed evolving hematomas (blood clots) in her 

abdomen. 

Ms. Ward was then examined by the on-call OBIGYN physician, Dr. Walter Wolfe, 

who performed exploratory surgery that evening. (Brief of Appellee, 5; R.E. 10, p. 3; R.E. 

7, p. 3,4.) Dr. Wolfe was concerned she might have necrotizinn fasciitis. which is a rare but 

life threatening infection; however, this was quickly ruled out during surgery. (T. 444.) 



Before surgery, Dr. Wolfe advised Ms. Ward that one of the possible outcomes may be a 

need to remove her uterus, whereupon she said this was okay with her as she did not desire 

additional children. (T. 145-147, 172, 174; T.E. D-2,366.) No blood cultures were taken 

at CMMC, but three drainage cultures were taken during and after surgery. The one taken on 

the incision surface returned a late growth 3 days later o f  'few3'MRSA bacteria (an organism 

resistant to many antibiotics), believedby Dr. Chapman (UMMC's infectious disease expert) 

to be a skin contaminant rather than an infection. (T. 448-451,586-589,591-592,604; T. E. 

D-2, 435.) The interior incision culture grew many non-resistant Group B strep bacteria, a 

bacteria common in the GI tract, vagina and the skin of the perineal area. (T.450-451, 589- 

591,596-597; T.E. D-2, p. 435.) The abdominal drainage culture returned a finding of no 

growth of bacteria. (T. 451-452,590-591; T.E. D-2,434.) 

Dr. Wolfe's operative note dictated several days later indicated that he found an 

abdominalhterine infection among other conditions. Dr. Wolfe stated that he decided to 

perform a hysterectomy for "the best post-operative outcome" and "the absolute best 

benefit." (T. 152-154, 172-174, 183-184,445.) Contrary to Dr. Wolfe's observation, the 

pathology report indicated the uterus was intact without portions missing. Only after Dr. 

Wolfe's exploratory surgery did Ms. Ward experience for the first time symptoms of a severe 

infection, developing fever and a severely elevated white blood count, both of which 

continued for days despite antibiotic therapy. (T. 451-452,515-516,585-586; T.E. D-2,416, 

418,424,427.) 

Although no physician is a warrantor of cures, ~laintiffltrial court illogically asserted 

that UMMC must have failed to cure Ms. Ward of an alleged uterine andlor incision 

infection on March 18 and/or March 27, basing this assertion on the finding of an alleged 

uterine infection by Dr. Wolfe on or about April 5. Hawkins v. Ozborn, 383 F. Supp. 1389, 



1396 (N.D. Miss. 1974). Plaintiffltrial court concluded that UMMC must therefore have 

caused or contributed to the alleged uterine infection found on or about April 5 because it 

provided care to Ms. Ward prior to that date, forgetting that "simply because one act precedes 

another does not make the first act cause the second." Cuevas v. DuPont De Nemours and 

Compariy, 956 F .  Supp. 1306, 1311 (S.D. Miss. 1997.) 

1V. REPLY TO PLAINTIFF'S SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT. 

Plaintiffs responsive brief erroneously asserts that "Defendant's main argument on 

appeal is that Plaintiffs expert, Dr. Dave David, was not qualified to testify as an expert, 

and that the Defendant's expert testimony was more reliable." (Brief of Appellee, p. 6.) In 

actuality, the assertion that Dr. David was unqualified and his testimony generally unreliable 

was but one of several appealable errors set forth by UMMC. At trial UMMC provided the 

testimony of numerous qualified experts that it met the standard of care in the care provided 

to Ms. Ward, and that no alleged breach of the standard of care by its physicians proximately 

and foreseeably without intervening event caused or contributed to Ms. Ward's alleged 

severe infection and hysterectomy on April 5. Plaintiff failed to prove otherwise by 

substantial and credible evidence. 

However, this case is far more than a "battle of the experts." The trial court 

erroneously "found" that Dr. Wolfe and Dr. Austin testified in favor of the plaintiff, where 

said testimony was mischaracterized or never took place. Plaintifvtrial court improperly 

relied upon the UMMC student guidelines to establish the standard of care, faulting UMMC 

for its alleged non-compliance when in reality the diagnosis of EMM which plaintiff 

maintains is correct was made and the treatment provided Ms. Ward substantially complied 

with that set forth in the guidelines. 



Displaying an unacceptable lack of knowledge or consideration of the actual events 

of this case, Dr. David's opinion relied upon incorrect facts and was filled with 

inconsistencies and contradictions, including where in Dr. David's own personal practice 

he diagnosed his patients based on their clinical presentation rather than laboratory testing, 

as UMMC did in this case. Filling in the gaps left by Dr. David's inconclusive testimony, 

the trial court copied verbatim key sections ofthe plaintiffs trial brief and simply rearranged 

the language but adopted the content of numerous other portions of the plaintiffs trial brief, 

inaccuracies and all. (R.E. 7; R.E. 10.) UMMC appeals to this Honorable Court to review 

the trial court's erroneous findings de novo or with heightened scrutiny and to reverse the 

unsupported ruling of the trial court and dismiss UMMC fiom this action. 

V. REPLY TO APPELLEE'S ARGUMENT 

A. The Trial Court Erred in Relying Upon Non-existent and Otherwise 
Inadmissible Testimony by Treating Physician Dr. Walter Wolfe. 

The trial court "found" in her Memorandum Opinion and Judgment that treating 

physician Dr. Walter Wolfe testified that UMMC breached the standard of care, proximately 

causing her injuries. No such testimony was given by Dr. Wolfe. Unlike other judicial 

findings which were adopted directly from plaintiffs trial brief, this "finding" originated 

with the trial court. (R.E. 7, p.4). Plaintiff admits that "the trial transcript of Dr. Wolfe 

clearly shows that he did not testify about the treatment Ms. Ward received during her 

admission to University of Mississippi Medical Center." (Brief of Appellee, p.7. ) 

Plaintiff generously suggests that the trial court made a "typographical error when it 

asserted that Dr. Wolfe provided this testimony" and notes that Dr. David offered similar 

testimony as that inaccurately attributed to Dr. Wolfe. (Brief of Appellee, pp. 8-9.) While the 

trial court may or may not have believed the testimony really occurred, it strains credibility 



to suggest the 142 words and numbers attributing the stated opinion to Dr. Wolfe was a 

mere "typographical error." Inclusion of a finding in the court's Memorandum Opinion and 

Judgment raises a presumption that the trial court relied on the findings stated in said 

memorandum. UMMC was prejudiced by a mistaken "finding" that Dr. Wolfe testified 

similar to Dr. David, when in reality he did not. The mistaken impression that several 

experts testified similar to Dr. David at trial would obviously and unfairly weigh in favor 

of plaintiffs credibility. 

Plaintiff asserts that "[ilt is apparent that ifthe testimony in whichDefendants admit 

never occurred, then Plaintiff can not be alleged to have ambushed the Defendant." (Brief 

for Appellee, p. 7.) Plaintiff obviously misread the plain language of UMMC's appeal brief 

on this issue, where UMMC actual1ystated"the trial court would have erred in admitting and 

relying on an opinion by Dr. Wolfe as to the care provided by UMMC (jf it had been 

offered) as "trial by ambush" which is disallowed under Mississippi law." (Brief of 

Appellant, p. 16.) (Emphasis added.) Plaintiffs designation of experts did not disclose that 

Dr. Wolfe had an opinion regarding the care rendered by UMMC, nor was there evidence 

that Dr. Wolfe had even reviewed the relevant records and depositions to form the basis of 

such an opinion. Under Mississippi law, allowing expert opinion at trial that had not been 

disclosed in discovery constitutes "trial by ambush." Buskirk v. Elliott, 856 So. 2d 255,264 

(Miss. 2003.) Therefore, even if the subject testimony had taken place, it would have been 

improper for the trial court to admit it as evidence and consider it in her decision as "trial by 

ambush." 

Of a singular mind, plaintiffltrial court maintain that Dr. Wolfe testified "a 

hysterectomy was needed in order to saveMs. Ward's life." (BriefofAppellee, p. 7; R.E.10, 

p. 9; R.E.7, p. 4.) However, Dr. Wolfe never made this assertion at trial, actually testifying 



that he removed Ms. Ward's uterus "for the best post-operative outcome" and "the absolute 

best benefit." (T. 152-154, 172-174, 183-184, 126-189.) Again, plaintiff improperly 

fashioned trial testimony to suit her cause and the trial court embraced plaintiffs assertion, 

even though it was without factual or testimonial basis. 

Thus material testimony that did not take place was "found" andlor adopted by the 

trial court. Regardless of whether the trial court intentionally created, mistakenly belicvcd, 

or blindly trusted that the non-existent testimonies occurred, these "findings" are 

unsupported by substantial, credible evidence, and were an abuse of discretion by the trial 

court, 

B. The Trial Court Erred by Materially Mischaracteriziug the Testimony of Dr. 
Thomas Austin. 

The findings in the plaintiffs trial brief and the trial court's memorandum regarding 

Dr. Austin, treating physician at UMMC on the morning of March 18, closely followed one 

another. On page 5 of plaintiffs trial brief and likewise page 5 of the trial court's 

memorandum, both conclude with the following identically worded erroneous"finding": 

It is clear from Dr. Austin's testimony that he diagnosed Ms. 
Ward with EMM, a uterine infection on March 18,2002. It is 
also clear from the testimony that Dr. Austin failed to perform 
the tests that he deemed necessary to confirm his diagnosis 
and insure that Ms. Ward would have received the proper 
antibiotic therapy and follow-up treatment. 

(Brief of Appellee, p. 12; R.E. 7, p. 5; R.E. 10, p. 5.) 

The plaintiffltrial court improperly uses the words "plan" and "order" 

interchangeably, despite their significantly different meanings. (Brief of Appellee, pp. 9,10, 

12; R.E. 10, pp. 1, 4, 15; R.E. 7, pp. 1, 2, 5.) Dr. Austin, who had no personal lnemoiy 

of the events, mentioned the tests as a& in his notes. (R.E. 2, pp. 13-14.) However, no 

orders for a CBC, urinalysis, or blood culture appear in the medical records, where Dr. 



Austin clearly wrote an order for N Unasyn on the physician's order sheet. (R.E. 2, pp.13- 

14,22,23,28-29; T. 535-539.) Thus, plaintiffs misleading assertioninher responsive brief 

that "it is undisputed that Dr. Austin wrote orders for a CBC, urinalysis and blood cultures," 

is simply unsupported by the evidence. (Brief of Appellee, pp. 9-10.) (Emphasis added.) 

Plaintiff also conveniently but improperly mischaracterized Dr. Austin's testimony 

in her responsive brief to suggest that "he thought the blood cultures were important." (Brief 

of Appellee, p. 10.) Plaintiffs interchangeable use of the very different words "helpful", 

"necessary", and "important" is misleading. Dr. Austin testified that while he initially 

thought the diagnostic tests may have been "helpful', he never testified the tests were 

"necessary" or "important." (Brief of Appellee, pp. , 12.) Dr. Austin actually testified that 

he "thought, at the time, that they would be helpful" and that "it could have added a little bit 

more information, but we basically had the diagnosis from the clinical picture. They did not 

change her management at all." (R.E. 2, pp. 15-16.) Dr. Austin further testified the tests 

"would have just given us additional information to support our diagnosis of infection. But 

I don't think they changed - having them or not having them changed her management at all" 

(R.E. 2, pp. 14-16,28.) 

Dr. Austin did not suggest that Ms. Ward had a resistant organism (such as MRSA) 

on March 18 as was subtly implied by plaintiff in her responsive brief. (Brief of Appellee, 

p. 11.) Dr. Austin actually testified only generally that if a patient's antibiotics are not 

working and i fa  blood culture shows them to have an organism which is not sensitive to the 

antibiotic being used, you need to change it. Dr. Austin clearly testified that the 

antibiotic given to Ms. Ward was appropriate, her condition improved, and she was properly 

discharged on March 20. (R.E. 2, pp. 15-16, 18.) 



Plaintiff also incorrectly asserted that Dr. Austin made a "very important admission" 

that blood cultures may have been helpful as explained by Dr. David. (Briefof Appellee, pp. 

11-12 T. 275-277.) However, the testimony of Dr. David quoted by plaintiff did not 

"explain" Dr. Austin's testimony at all, but rather it discussed the care provided later by Dr. 

Robinson. Thus plaintiffs assertion is irrelevant and a misuse of Dr. David's testimony. 

If simply changing aplan is evidence of negligence, then many would be found daily 

liable. Yet the plaintiff and the trial court presume that because Dr. Austin initially planned 

for a diagnostic CBC, urinalysis, and blood culture, the standard of care was breached when 

this plan was changed. Dr. Austin, who initially planned but never ordered the tests, testified 

that these tests would not have made a difference in the care Ms. Ward received, and 

therefore it is irrelevant to this action whether they were performed or not. The plaintifutrial 

court's mischaracterization that he testified in favor of plaintiffs cause is unsupported by 

substantial evidence, and was thus an abuse of discretion by the trial court. 

C. The Trial Court Erred in Finding That Dr. Dave David Was Qualified as 
an Expert Witness in this Case and That His Testimony Was Relevant 
and Reliable. 

Ms. Ward argues that UMMC is trying to "enlarge the standard of review" beyond 

that of City of Greenville v. Jones, 925 So. 2d 106 (Miss. 2006) without authority and that 

de novo or heightened scrutiny review is not correct. (Brief of Appellee, p. 13.) To the 

contrary, UMMC asks this Honorable Court to apply the avvrovriate standard of review. 

Mississippi law is well-settled that where the findings of a trial judge in a bench trial are not 

supported by substantial, credible and reasonable evidence or when said trial judge applies 

an incorrect legal standard, de novo review on appeal is appropriate. MississippiDepartment 

of Transportation v. Johnson, 873 So. 2d 108, 11 1 (Miss. 2004)."The existence of a duty is 



entirely a question of law and it must be determined by the court." Foster v. Bass, 575 So. 

2d 967, (Miss. 1991). The standad of review on questions of law is de novo. Johnson at 1 11. 

Further, when the trial judge adopts "substantially verbatim" findings and conclusions 

found in the winning party's trial brief, the appellate court "must view the challenged 

findings and the record as a whole with a more critical eye to ensure that the trial court has 

adequately performed its judicial function." Mississippi Department of Wildlife Fisheries 

and Parks v. Brannon, 943 So. 2d 53 14-16, 18 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). Under these 

circumstances, the Appellate Court "must keep a keen eye for gratuitous slants." Omnibank 

of Mantee v. United Southern Bank, 607 So. 2d 76, 83 (Miss. 1992). Where the judge 

substantially adopted one parties' language, the Supreme Court "must analyze the findings 

with greater care, and the evidence is subject to heightened scrutiny." Mississippi 

Department of Wildlijk Fisheries and Parks at 11 18. "This Court has explained that such 

findings are not the same as findings independently made by the trial judge after impaxtially 

and judiciously sifting through the conflicts and nuances of the trial testimony and exhibits." 

Estate ofGrubbs v. Woods, 753 So. 2d 1043, 1046 (Miss. 2000). 

De novo review is the correct standard of review on appeal in this case. The trial 

court's opinion, as a whole, was not supported by substantial, credible, and reasonable 

evidence. Specifically, the "finding' of testimony by Dr. Wolfe that did not take place was 

not supported by substantial, credible, and reasonable evidence. Also, the plaintiffltrial 

court's inischaracterization of the testimony of Dr. Austin was also not supported by 

substantial, credible, and reasonable evidence. Finally, the trial court's often verbatim 

adoption of plaintiffs trial brief, factual and testimonial inaccuracies included, was not 

supported by substantial, credible and reasonable evidence. Thus de novo review is 

appropriate under Mississippi law. Mississippi Department of Wildlife Fisheries and Parks 



v. Brannon, 943 So. 2d 53 7 16 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006); Donaldson v. Covingtoiz County, 846 

SO. 2d 219, 222 (Miss. 2003); Mississippi Department of Transportation v. Trosclair, 851 

SO. 2d 408, 413 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003); Rice Researchers, Inc. v. Hiter, 512 So. 2d 1259, 

1264 (Miss. 1987). 

The plaintiflltrial court's reliance upon the OBIGYN student guidelines to establish 

UMMC's duty was a clear error of law. Admission of alleged testimony by Dr. Wolfe (if 

it had taken place) which was undisclosed in plaintiffs expert designation was also a clear 

error of law. Likewise, the trial court's finding of a legal duty to verify the correct diagnoses 

ofpresumed EMM and possible incision infection where the patient was provided treatment 

curative of these conditions just in case said verification would provide helpful information 

was a clear error of law. Similarly, finding UMMC had a duty to perform tests that were 

irrelevant to plaintiffs claimed injury and finding UMMC liable for not performing them is 

an error of law. Finally, the trial court's finding that the inaccurate foundational facts upon 

which plaintiffs expert Dr. David based his opinion were sufficient to permit reasonably 

accurate conclusions was likewise an error of law; thus de novo review is appropriate. 

Janssen Pharmaceutica, Znc. v. Bailey, 878 So. 2d 31, 7 135 (Miss. 2004.); Mississippi 

Department of Transportation v. Johnson, 873 So. 2d 108, I l l  (Miss. 2004); Estate of 

Grubbs v. Woods, 753 So. 2d 1043,1047 (Miss. 2000); Brooks v. Brooks, 652 So. 2d 11 13, 

11 18 (Miss. 1995); Fosterv. Bass, 575 So. 2d967, (Miss. 1991), Holden v. Frasher-Holden, 

680 So. 2d 795,799 (Miss. 1996). 

De novo or heightened scrutiny review is the correct standard of review where the 

trial court's findings of fact were copied substantially verbatim from plaintiffs trial brief 

regarding the crucial opinions of Dr. David and Dr. Austin, including the factual and 

testimonial inaccuracies therein. Other instances as described herein where the trial judge 



copied critical portions of the plaintiffs trial brief substantially verbatim, including factual 

and testimonial inaccuracies, is likewise appropriate for de novo or heightened scrutiny 

review. City of Greenville v. Jones, 925 So. 2d 106, 77 21-24 (Miss. 2006); Mississippi 

Department of Wildlife Fisheries and Parks v. Brannon, 943 So. 2d 53 7 14-18 (Miss. Ct. 

App. 2006); Snzith v. Orman, 822 So. 2d 975 7 7-8 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002); Estate of Grubbs 

v. Woods, 753 SO. 2d 1043, 1046-1047 (Miss. 2000); Brooks v. Brooks, 652 So. 2d 

11 13,1117-1 118 (Miss. 1995); Omnibank of Mantee v. United Southern Bank, 607 So. 2d 

76,83 (Miss. 1992); Rice Researchers, Inc. v. Hiter, 512 So. 2d 1259, 1264-1265 (Miss. 

1987). UMMC respectfully requests this Honorable Court to apply the above described 

standards of review in this case as appropriate under Mississippi law. 

Whether an expert is qualified to testify at trial and on what matters is within the trial 

court's discretion. Partin v. North Mississippi Medical Center, 929 So. 2d 924,721 (Miss. 

Ct. App. (2005). "An expert witness must possess that skill, knowledge or experience in the 

field in which he purports to render expert testimony to make it appear that his opinion or 

inference will probably aid the trier in its search for truth." Beckham v. General Motors 

Corporation, 933 So. 2d 1022, 7 7 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). 

The plaintiffltrial court emphasized that because Dr. David had been certified in 

OBlGYN almost nine years prior, he was qualified to testify as an expert in this case. 

(T. 239,249,255-256.) (Brief ofAppellee, p.14.) The trial court improperly discounted Dr. 

David's lack of experience in the care of post- Cesarean infections on or near the year 2002 

and his lack of updated knowledge, skill, experience, training or education in the subject area 

of the treatment of post-Cesarean infections, mistakenly finding him to have expertise based 

on his nearly expired certification in OBIGYN. The trial court additionally ignored the bias 

created where Dr. David's essential livelihood was testifying for plaintiffs (even advertising 



in plaintiffs literature that he was "jury friendly") and where his veracity was highly suspect. 

More important, the trial court ignored the evidence that Dr. David had not provided post- 

Cesarean care for approximately 9 years according to his testimony, and 12 years according 

to bankruptcy documents signed as to their truthfulness by Dr. David (also suggesting a lack 

of veracity). Mississippi Transportation Commission v. McLemore, 863 So. 2d 317 6 (Miss. 

2003); Miss. R. Evid. 702. 

Regardless, Dr. David's testimony against UMMC was neither relevant nor reliable. 

(Brief of Appellee, p.15.) "The trial court is vested with a gatekeeping responsibility." 

Mississippi Transportation Commission v. McLemore, 863 So. 2d 31, 11 (Miss. 2003). 

"For expert testimony to admissible, it must be both relevant and reliable." Tunica v. 

Matthews, 926 So. 2d 209,213 (Miss. 2006); citing Mississippi Transportation Comm 'n v. 

McLemore, 863 So. 2d 31, 39 (Miss. 2003); see also Miss. R. Evid. 702. "The trial judge 

determines whether the testimony rests on areliable foundation and is relevant in a particular 

case." McLemore at 7 11. "The party offering the testimony must show that the expert based 

his opinion not on opinions or speculation, but rather on scientific methods and procedures." 

Tunica at 213. "To be relevant and reliable, the testimony must be scientifically valid and 

capable of being applied to the facts at issue." Tunica at 213. 

"The facts upon which the expert bases his opinion or conclusion must permit 

reasonably accurate conclusious as distinguished from mere guess or conjecture." Hickox v. 

Holleinan, 502 So. 2d 626, 638 Miss. 1987.) "The sufficiency of foundational facts or 

evidence on which to base an opinion is a question of law," and the reliability of expert 

opinionis subject to appellatereview. Janssen Pharmaceutica, Inc. v. Bailey, 878 So. 2d 31, 

7 135 (Miss. 2004.) The plaintiffltrial court ignored that Dr. David's testimony contained 

numerous factual inaccuracies and contradictions, passing these crucial deficiencies off as 



mere differences of opinion. (Brief of Appellee, p. 16.) Dr. David's opinion properly should 

have been disallowed at trial because it was based on misinformation and his testimony was 

highly speculative and contradictory, 

UMMC delineated the incorrect facts relied on by Dr. David in its Brief of 

Appellant. (See Brief of Appellant, pp.24-25.) Plaintiff unsuccessfully attempted to justify 

or deflect from the incorrect facts, to which defendant replies as follows: (Brief of Appellee, 

1. Dr. David did not know that Ms. Ward was given Unasyn for 42 hours 
on March 18-20, mistakenly believing that she received only 24 hours of 
the Unasyn therapy. (T. 288-289; T.E. D-1, pp. 110,114.) 

Dr. David never testified that the 42 hours of Unasyn Ms. Ward received 

(approximately 48 hours after decline of her temperature spike) was insufficient and that a 

single additional dose of Unasyn would have cured Ms. Ward and spared her uterus. 

2. Dr. David confused Ms. Ward's clinical presentation on March 18-20 
with her presentation on March 27, mistakenly believing that Ms. Ward 
had signs of a possible infection in her incision on March 18-20. (T. 285- 
287; T.E. D-1, pp. 44,124.) 

Dr. David stated that in addition to starting Ms. Ward on Unasyn on March 18, Dr. 

Austin "should have cultured the wound," "should have definitely cultured the wound," and 

"the wound [should have been] opened up." ( T. 285-286.) As she did not manifest wound 

symptoms until March 27, Dr. David obviously confused Ms. Ward's clinical presentation 

on March 18-20 with her presentation on March 27. (T. 285-287; T.E. D-1, pp. 44, 124.) 

3. Dr. David confused Ms. Ward's clinical presentation on March 18 with 
the clinical presentation she developed while at CMMC, believing in 
error that she had abdominal pain, distension, and an ileus while at 
UMMC. (T. 286-287, 313-314; T.E. D-1, pp. 44-45; T.E. D-2, pp. 366- 
368.) 



Dr. David again confused Ms. Ward's clinical presentation on March 18 with the 

clinical presentation she developed while at CMMC. He inaccurately testified that she 

experienced generalized abdominal pain, distension, and an ileus (a bowel condition where 

the intestines don't move) while at UMMC, despite that no UMMC medical records 

document these symptoms. (T. 286-287,3 13-3 14.) In fact, Ms. Ward is clearly documented 

in the nurses' notes as having had four bowel movements between March 18 and March 20 

at UMMC. (T. 426 ;T.E. D-1,pp. 44-45,124,128,141,132.) However, generalizedahdominal 

tenderness and a partial bowel obstruction was documented in the medical records of 

CMMC, although abdominal distention was never documented at anv time, where her 

abdomen was specifically found to be as soft and flat. (T. 138-139; T.E. D-2, pp. 366,368.) 

Plaintiffs assertion in her responsive brief that "Ms. Ward was eventually diagnosed with 

an ileus and for that reason a proper diagnosis and treatment during her March 18-20 

admission would have shown this fact" is nonsensical, where she suggests that UMMC 

diagnose a bowel condition before it existed by working Ms. Ward up for an 

different condition - an infection/inflammation of the uterine lining (EMM). 

4. Dr. David did acknowledge Dr. Robinson's examination, findings, 
and treatment on March 27, basing his entire opinion on the home 
nurse's preliminary notes. (T. 270-277; T.E. D-1, pp. 191.) 

Plaintiffs response that "Dr. David testified that he reviewed the medical records of 

the March 27 admission and therefore was aware of the treatment renderedby Dr. Robinson" 

was a misstatement of Dr. David's testimony. (Brief of Appellee, p. 16.) At trial Dr. David 

agreed only that he reviewed "the records from the University of Mississippi Medical Center 

where a Cesarean was perfonned on Ms. Ward," in particular the summary sheet for that 

admission. (T. 256.) The medical records "where a cesarean was performed" documented 

the March 14-20 admission, not March 27 clinic visit for incision symptoms that 



developed after her discharge. There is no testimony that Dr. David reviewed the records 

from the March 27 clinic admission, nor the relevant depositions for either admission. 

5. Dr. David did not know that Dr. Robinson had opened, drained and 
cleaned the wound on March 27, and faulted him for not doing so. 
(T. 274-277,281; T.E. D-1, pp. 191.) 

Dr. David did not at anv time indicate a knowledge of what Dr. Robinson did or did 

not do, what he found, nor what treatment he rendered on March 27. (T. 274-277.) (Plaintiff 

counsel, not Dr. David, later asserted that Dr. Robinson prescribed the antibiotic Keflex.) 

(T. 283-284.) Regardless, Dr. David agreed with plaintiff counsel that a breach of the 

standard of care took place without indicating a knowledge of what care tookplace. 

(T. 276-277.) 

6. Dr. David believed incorrectly that the wound pocket contained purulent 
drainage on March 27. (T. 270-271,275-276; T.E. D-1, p. 191.) 

It is true that nurse Wilson testified she observed the skin surface, saw what she 

described as purulent drainage on March 27 and thus she sent Ms. Ward to UMMC for 

physician evaluation.(T. 50-5 1 .) However, she did not observe below the skin surface to the 

internal contents of the wound pocket. Later that day, Dr. Robinson examined the wound, 

finding no purulent drainage on the skin surface nor &,& the wound when he opened, 

drained and cleaned it. Plaintiffs embrace of the observations of the skin surface made by 

the home nurse and her complete disregard of the contrary findings of the licensed physician 

who personally opened the wound is misplaced. 

7. Dr. David did not know that Ms. Ward's WBC on April 5 was within the 
normal laboratory range. (T. 322-32s; T.E. D-2, pp. 427.) 

As Ms. Ward's WBC was on April 5, then plaintiffltrial court offers only 

speculation that her WBC would have been abnormal on March 18 and March 27 before she 



became allegedly seriously ill. Dr. David =offered an opinion that a WBC would have 

been abnormal if taken on March 18 and 27, just that it should have been done. 

8. Dr. David did not know that Ms. Ward was free of fever on April 5. 
(T. 325; T.E. D-2; pp. 385-387.) 

Again, this fact isimportant as it demonstrates that Ms. Ward's symptom of fever had 

disappeared after the care provided by UMMC weeks earlier with a new fever appearing 

when she developed the infection following her exploratory surgery at CMMC in April. 

Appellant's initial brief also listed the following inconsistencies and contradictions 

on pp.25-27. Defendant's rebuttal to plaintiffs response to these inconsistencies and 

contradictions is set out below. (Brief of Appellee, pp. 17-18.): 

1. Confusing Ms. Ward's clinical presentation, Dr. David testified at 
various times that on March 18, Dr. Austin should have taken blood 
cultures (T. 262- 263,266-267), an endometrial or cervical culture (T. 
287,315-316), and a wound culture on that date. (T. 285-286.) 

Ms. Ward had no wound svmutoms or drainaee to culture on March 18-20, a fact that 

Dr. David did not seem to know. In spite of a series of inconsistent opinions about the 

various culture types, at no time did Dr. David testify what blood, endometrial/cervical, or 

wound cultures would have revealed if taken on March 18, nor did he testify how the simple 

performance of these tests would have cured Ms. Ward and spared her uterus. 

2. Dr. David testified that Unasyn was the appropriate antibiotic for Ms. 
Ward on March 18. (T. 283,285,288-289,317-318.) Covering his bases, 
he also testified that Unasyn was the appropriate antibiotic. (T. 269- 
270,282.) 

Dr. David testified that Unasyn prescribed by Dr. Austin was the appropriate 

antibiotic for Ms. Ward on March 18 and was a good starting point, to be changed if needed 

after watching her closely. (Ms. Ward's condition improved and Dr. David never testified 

that a change in antibiotic was actually needed in her case.) (T. 283, 285, 317-318.) He 



testified that cultures should be taken, but if no cultures were taken, 24 hours of Unasyn was 

insufficient and 48 hours of Unasyn should be given. (T.288-289.) 

Covering his bases, he gave the reverse testimony that Unasyn was not the 

appropriate antibiotic. (T. 269-270, 282.) He agreed with plaintiff counsel's vague 

statement that the "improper course of antibiotic" prescribed by Dr. Austin breached the 

standard of care. (T. 269-270.) He later agreed with plaintiff counsel's equally ambiguous 

statement that if UMMC "had performed a CBC and a wound culture and started her on the 

right antibiotic", her unspecified condition would have been cured. (T. 282.) (Neither 

plaintiff counsel nor Dr. David indicated which date of treatment they had in mind with this 

statement.) 

Plaintiffs response brief took improper liberties with Dr. David's testimony when 

she stated that "[hlis later testimony that Unasyn was not proper was based on the fact that 

MRSA was found to be the organism causing Ms. Ward's infection and that Unasyn would 

not treat this particular bacteria." The only mention of Ms. Ward having MRSA found in 

Dr. David's testimony was made by plaintiff counsel and referenced one of the two wound 

cultures performed on April 5 at CMMC as follows: 

Q. Now, the wound culture actually grew an organism called staphylococcus 
aureus, MRSA? 

A. Correct. 
(T. 282.) 

Q. Well, knowing what we know now that this is MRSA after she did a wound 
culture- 

A. I'm sony, sir? 
Q. Knowing that it is MRSA, would Unasyn be effective against that type of 

infection? 
A. Usually not. 

(T. 283.) 



Indeed a "few" MRSA bacteria were found on the surface of Ms. Ward's incision at 

CMMC (likely a contaminant), and "many" Group B strep bacteria were found on the inner 

portion of the incision, a finding plaintiff ignores. Dr. David never testified that Ms. Ward 

had an MRSA infection on March 18 andlor 27, and the assumption or suggestion by 

plaintiff counsel that he so testified is improper. (T. 238-327.) 

3. Dr. David offered his opinion that Unasyn would treat MRSA, but when 
 lai in tiff counsel immediately asked him again he reversed his testimonv, ", 

saying that Unasyn would ;ot treat M R S ~  (T. 283.) 

Referring to the culture taken at CMMC, plaintiff counsel asked Dr. David: 

Q. How about Unasyn, would it have treated this MRSA? 
A. A lot of times it will. But depending on the specific organism it won't ... 

Later on the same page, plaintiff counsel asked the same question again: 

Q. Knowing that it is MRSA, would Unasyn be effective against that type of 
infection? 

A. Usually not ... 
(T. 283.) 

Based on this conflicting testimony, the listenerlreader cannot discern whether Dr. 

David is of the opinion that Unasyn will usually treat MRSA or not. Plaintiff counsel's 

assertion that Dr. David testified "once MRSA was diagnosed, Unasyn would not be the 

proper antibiotic" is not supported by the language of his testimony. 

4. Dr. David noted that Dr. Austin diagnosed Ms. Ward with EMM on 
March 18. (T. 258.) In contradiction, he also opined that Dr. Austin did 
not diagnose Ms. Ward with EMM on March 18, but should have. - 
(T. 284-288.) 

Plaintiffs response mistakenly asserts that "Dr. David did not testify at any time that 

Dr. Austin breached the standard of care by not diagnosing EMM . . . ." Admittedly Dr. 

David clearlv noted that Dr. Austin diagnosed Ms. Ward with EMM on March 18 and his 

general testimony was often ambiguous. (T. 258.) However, Dr. David later admonished 



that UMMC breached the standard of care by "not recognizing" that Ms. Ward had 

endometritis (T. 285), Ms. Ward "should have been workedup for endometritis" (T. 285- 

287), an endometrial culture should have been performed "to see if there is also endometritis 

going on" (T. 287), and that UMMC would want to "rule out" endometritis after a C-section 

(T.288). Thus, Dr. David both admitted that EMM was diagnosed and also faulted that it 

should have been diagnosed on March 18. 

5. Dr. David testified that a urinalysis was required by the standard of care 
on March 18. (T. 258, 262-263, 266-267, 269-270, 319.) However, he 
explained that the urinalysis would not diagnose EMM, but was to rule 
out a urinary tract infection and was just for "completeness", as a 
urinary tract infection was not at issue. (T. 261,319.) 

Plaintiff forgets that for an alleged breach of duty to be relevant at trial, said breach 

of duty must have proximately caused or contributed to plaintiffs injury. As a urinary tract 

infection was not at issue in this case, Dr. David's testimony and the plaintiffttrial court's 

finding that a urinalysis was required by the standard of care was irrelevant and served only 

to confuse the trier of fact and disparage the relevant care provided by UMMC. 

6. Dr. David testified that a CBC was required by the standard of care and 
the lack of a CBC proximately caused Ms. Ward's hysterectomy. 
(T. 258,261-263,266-267,270,282.) However, he also testified that the 
CBC was only "a baseline in case its - to see if she's getting better or 
worse." (T. 277.) 

Plaintiff responded that "[a] CBC should have been done to comply with the standard 

of care -the appropriate antibiotics could have been given and the seriousness of her 

infection been diagnosed." (Brief of Appellee, p. 17.) However, no expert testified that a 

CBC was required a t h e  "appropriate antibiotic" can be selected. (T. 133-1 34,199-200, 

561-562, 575-577, 579-580, 593,602; R.E. 2, pp. 14-16; R.E. 3, p. 16; R.E. 4, pp. 22-23.) 



Further, Dr. David did not opine that a CBC taken on March 18 and/or 27 would have been 

abnormal and how this would have indicated a "serious" infection on that date. 

7. Dr. David was clear that the portion of the CBC potentially indicative of 
an infection is an elevated white blood count (WBC). (T. 260-261,316- 
317, 323.) He also admitted that you can get an elevated WBC "in 
everything." (T. 317.) However, when informed that Ms. Ward's WBC 
was within the normal range on April 5, he promatlv changed his 
oainion, testifying that it is the platelet count that you look at in a CBC 
to indicate infection. (T. 324-325.) 

The inconsistency here is Dr. David's suspiciously abrupt change of opinion when 

infom~ed that Ms. Ward's WBC was normal on April 5. Prior to this change of opinion, Dr. 

David had clearly explained that a WBC was the important measurement in assessing a 

potential infection: 

Q. All right. And is that where the CBC, the urinalysis, and the blood cultures 
come into play? 

A. That's correct. A CBC is a complete blood count. You're looking at the 
hemoglobin, make sure the patient is not anemic. But in cases like this, more 
importantly you're looking at the white blood count, make sure its not either 
elevated or severely depressed. And you look at the differential, meaning 
what kind ofwhite blood cells may be in abnormal proportions in the blood." 

(T. 260-261 .) (Emphasis added.) 

Dr. Wolfe expressed similar opinions, testifying: 

Q. What would you look for to determine whether or not a person has an 
infection in a CBC? 

A. Well, you look for a white blood count to be elevated. 
(T. 133-134.) (Emphasis added.) 

Dr. David and the other experts agreed that the WBC is the pertinent part of a CBC 

in assessing potential infection, and Dr. David alone changed his opinion to state that an 

elevated platelet count was pertinent in assessing potential infection. (T. 133-134,200-201, 

218-219,260-261,316-317,438,586;R.E. 2,pp 14.) What Dr. Daviddidnot explain is how 

Ms. Ward's post-operative infection at CMMC caused her fever and WBC to soar, but at the 

same time her platelet count dropped precipitously after several blood transfusions. (T. E. 



D-2, pp. 423,424,427,437,440.) This was consistentwithUMMC's experts' testimonythat 

the elevated platelet count had indicated Ms. Ward's body's attempt to correct the blood loss 

from delivery, her hematomas, and her heavy vaginal bleeding on April 5. (T. 438,483-485, 

8. Dr. David testified that blood cultures are critical and required. (T. 262- 
263,266-267,270,314-315.) In contradiction, he later testified that blood 
cultures indicate bacteria in the blood and won't diaenose an infection 
in the uterus, except suggestively if the bacteria involved is one of the 
usual culprits for uterine infections. (T. 314-315.) He also testified that 
MRSA is usually found on the skin, not in the uterus. (T. 264-266.) 

Plaintiffs responsive brief attempted to deflect attention fiom the blood culture 

inconsistency and discuss endometrial/cervical (uterine) cultures. However, Dr. Austin did 

not plan to perform endometriaVcervica1 cultures, the trial court did not find them to be 

required, and no expert testified that failure to perform endometriaWcervica1 cultures 

proximately caused or contributed to plaintiffs alleged serious infection and hysterectomy. 

9. Dr. David testified that a fever was defined as a temperature of 100.4 or 
above and that when Ms. Ward had a temperature spike on March 18, 
she was "running a fever". (T. 257,267,318.) Although he testified that 
after the temperature spike he was not clear what her temperature was, 
he nevertheless implied that she had a continued fever, stating that it 
didn't come all the way down the next day. (T. 267,318.) 

Plaintiffs response did not contest this inconsistency. 

10. Dr. David testified that various cultures were required by the standard 
of care and were needed in case the initial therapy hadn't worked and 
the patient continued to get sicker. (T. 261-262,268-269.) Ms. Ward's 
signs and symptoms improved and she did get sicker, a fact that Dr. 
David ignored. 

Plaintiffs response brief did not address the fatal gap in Dr. David's opinion 

regarding antibiotic therapy when the patient's symptoms improved. Plaintiffs response 

brief merely asserts that "Dr. David testified that cultures were required to identify the 

particular organism you are dealing with so the appropriate antibiotic regimen can be 



started. (T. 282-285.)" However, the pages referenced by plaintiff do not support this 

assertion. 

11. Dr. David testified that the antibiotic Keflex, prescribed to Ms. Ward on 
March 27, both would and would not treat MRSA. (T. 284.) 

Again, plaintiffs response avoids the conflicting testimony given by Dr. David 

stated in #11. 

Dr. David testified: 

Q. Is Keflex an appropriate treatment for an MRSA? 
A. No it's not. 

(T. 284, lines 1-3.) (Emphasis added.) 

Conversely, he further testified: 
Q. And why not? 
A. Well put it this way, deoending on what kind of an infection you're treating. 

If you're treating a urinary tract infection or staph and the pimples in the face, 
Keflex could be fine because it does cover staph very often. It's not so much 
Keflex versus another antibiotic .... 

(T. 284.) (Emphasis added.) Thus he testified that Keflex both would and would not treat 

MRSA. 

12. Although plaintiff counsel implied (without specifically stating) that Ms. 
Ward had an MRSA infection on March 18 and/or 27, Dr. David dkhcd 
express this opinion. (T. 263-266,282-284.) 

Plaintiffs response to #12 toys with the language of defendant's statement, 

misconstruing the meaning. Plaintiff responds "Dr. David clearly states that Ms. Ward did 

have anMRSAinfection [cleverly omittingthe datesMarch 18 andlor 271 and that the proper 

antibiotic was Vancomycin. (T. 282-284.)" (Brief of Appellee, p. 18.) However, the point 

is that Dr. David never testified Ms. Ward had an MRSA infection on March 18 andlor 27. 

He agreed with plaintiff counsel that the wound culture taken at CMMC on April 5 grew 

MRSA (ignoring that there were three cultures, only one growing "few" MRSA.) (T. 282- 

283.) He stated that the Vancomycin prescribed for Ms. Ward at CMMC was "usually great 



for staph." (T. 283.) He did not sav that Ms. Ward had an MRSA infection at UMMC on 

March 18 and/or 27 and Vancomvcin should have been prescribed at UMMC, and plaintiff 

counsel's implication that he said this is misleading to the court. (T. 282-285.) 

13. Dr. David appeared to rely on the OBlGYN student practice guidelines 
as the standard of care. (T.266-267,270.) However, he only eenerally 
followed the guidelines of the American College of Obstetricians and 
Gynecologists, testifying that they were "guidelines, not regulations, but 
they're guidelines." (T. 293.) 

Plaintiffs response brief totally failed to address the substance of the foregoing 

inconsistency. Rather, plaintiff points out that Dr. David's testimony is based on his 

experience, knowledge and training. This response in itself fully illuminated one of the most 

important inconsistencies in Dr. David's testimony, assertions that laboratory tests were 

required to diagnose patients in this case, where in his personal practice Dr. David usually 

diamosed patients on the basis of their clinical presentation, as was done by the UMMC 

physicians with Ms. Ward. (Brief of Appellant, p. 27-28; T. 260, 314-317, 320-321.) The 

sum of Dr. David's testimony is so without factual basis, vague, contradictory, inconsistent 

and speculative as to be without value in offering qualified, relevant, and reliable assistance 

to the trier of fact. 

D. The Trial Court Erred in Finding That Plaintiff Expert Dr. Dave David Proved 
that UMMC Breached the Standard of Care, Proximately and Foreseeably 
Causing Ms. Ward's Hysterectomy on April 5,2002. 

To establish aprima facie case of medical negligence, a plaintiff must prove duty, 

breach, causation, and injury. Vede v. Delta Regional Medical Center, 933 SO. 2d 310,75 

(Miss. Ct. App. 2006). "Because a plaintiff must prove each of the above elements in order 

to prevail, the failure to prove a single element is fatal to the claim." Vede at 1 5. The 

existence of a duty is a question of law. Foster v. Bass, 575 So. 2d 967, 973 (Miss. 1991). 

"A duty does not exist if the defendant could not reasonably foresee any inju~y as the result 



of his acts, or if his conduct was reasonable in the light of what he could anticipate." Foster 

at 975. The point of view in determining foreseeability is an external one, "from the point 

of view of the actor prior to occurrence." Foster at 975. "Foreseeability of harm . . . must 

depend on knowledge." Foster at 976. 

Dr. David testified that UMMC breached the standard of care in failing to perform 

diagnostic tests (CRC, urinalysis, blood cultures, andlor wound culture) onMarch 18 and 27, 

in not giving Ms. Ward a longer course of Unasyn on March 18-20 , and for not giving her 

an unnamed IV or intramuscular antibiotic on March 27. His testimony is offered in 

hindsight rather than from the perspective of the physicians providing the care, as he seemed 

conveniently oblivious to Ms. Ward's actual signs and symptoms while at UMMC. (T. 282.) 

"Accuracy of statement is one of the first elements of truth; inaccuracy is anear kin 

to falsehood." The New Dictionary of Thoughts, A Cyclopedia of Quotations, StandardBook 

Company, New York, 1944, p. 3. Ms. Ward's arguments are seasoned liberally with factual 

and testimonial inaccuracies necessary to make her story palatable. In particular, plaintiffs 

response to this section is tiresomely packed with inaccuracies, and her inexact use of terms 

and phrases is frustrating to the reader seeking accuracy. Pr ie f  of Appellee, pp. 18-20.) 

She continued to refer to the CBC, urinalysis and blood cultures as sometimes 

and sometimes ordered by Dr. Austin, where in reality they were simply plans, and 

never ordered. (Brief of Appellee, pp. 4,18) (T. 262-263.) Again, Dr. Austin never testified 

the tests were necessary, as plaintiff continues to falsely assert. (Brief of Appellee, p. 18.) 

Responses to further incorrect statements in  lai in tiff s responsive brief are detailed below. 

1. "Dr. Austin skipped directly to the treatment of the infection with the IV 
antibioticunasyn without knowing what type of infection he was dealing 
with." (Brief of Appellee, p. 19.) 



The reader must guess whether plaintiff is referring to EMM (endometritis) or a 

bacterial organism with her broad references to "the infection" and "type of infection." Her 

point is moot, since she asserts that Ms. Ward needed more Unasyn to treat her "infection". 

2. "In addition, the physicians at UMMC only left her on the antibiotics for 
42 hours which Dr. David testified was not long enough to adequately 
treat her infection even if the proper antibiotic was used. Dr David 
testified that IV antibiotics should continue for 48 hours in order to meet 
the standard of care." (Brief of Appellee, p. 19.) 

Although Dr. David testified that "you want to leave them on 48 hours [8 doses] of 

antibiotics," (believing that she received only 24 hours of Unasyn) he discussed 

whether 42 hours ofUnasyn (7 doses instead of 8), received approximately 48 hours after the 

decline of her fever, was sufficient or not to cure Ms. Ward and spare her uterus. (T. 288.) 

3. "Ms Ward was sent home with her infection still present." (Brief of 
Appellee, p. 19.) 

This statement is based entirely on hindsight and plaintiffs unfounded trial 

suuvosition that Ms. Ward had the same "infection" on March 18, 27, and April 5 that 

UMMC allegedly failed to cure. UMMC's infectious disease expert, Dr. Stanley Chapman, 

testified that MRSA has a short incubation period of a day or two and was likely a 

contaminant on Ms. Ward's skin surface; thus if an MRSA infection was found at CMMC 

it was in scientific probability contracted after her care at UMMC. (T. 448-451,586-589, 

591-592, 604.) This testimony was undisvuted. Dr. Chapman likewise testified that the 

typical rapid progression of a Group B strep infection made it unlikely that Ms. Ward had 

a Group B strep infection more than a couple of hours to a couple of days before its 

discovery at CMMC; thus, it also more likely than not began at some point after Ms. Ward's 

last visit to UMMC. (T. 592,604,608-609.) This testimony was likewise undisputed. Thus, 

according to the undisputed testimony of an infectious disease expert, any MRSA or Group 



B strep Ms. Ward experienced at CMMC more likely than not developed &r her last visit 

to UMMC, a fact that went unheeded by plaintiffftrial court. 

4. "That is why seven days later, on March 27, she returned to UMMC 
with a fever and purulent discharge from her incision. The physicians 
had a second chance to properly treat Ms. Ward." (Brief of Appellee, p. 
19.) 

Plaintiffs insistence that Ms. Ward "returned to UMMC with ... purulent discharge 

from her incision" and that she had one continuous "infection" is completely inaccurate, and 

her tedious insistence upon skewing reality in her favor hinders the search for truth. Dr. 

Robinson was not apprised of the home nurse's observations, but he examinedMs. Ward and 

did not observe purulent drainage on her skin surface. More importantly, he proved 

indisputably that Ms. Ward did not have purulent drainage inside her incision at UMMC 

when he opened and drained the incision pocket, observing the contents personally. 

5. "However, the Doctors at UMMC again failed to perform the most basic 
tests to properly diagnose her infection [referring to March 271. They 
performed no CBC, no blood culture and no wound culture. Therefore 
they had no idea what type of infection they were dealing with and what 
type of antibiotics should be used." (Emphasis omitted.) (Brief of 
Appellee, p. 19.) 

Again plaintiff engages in word-play with the general terms "infection" and "type of 

infection,"and "type of antibiotic". Dr. Robinson thoroughly examined Ms. Ward on 

March 27 and detem~ined that she did not have an infected incision based on her presentation 

at the time of his examination; nonetheless he provided treatment curative of a wound 

infection if she had one, after which Ms. Ward's fever disappeared and her other symptoms 

cleared. 

A CBC could not identify a particular "type of infection" nor identify what "type of 

antibiotic"shou1d be used, regardless of the use of the tenns. A blood culture could rule out 

a bacterial infection in the bloodstream, but bacteria in the bloodstream was not at issue in 



this case. There was no purulent drainage to culture from the wound site on March 27, but 

if a wound culture had been taken the results would not have returned for 1-3 days, by which 

time Ms. Ward's symptoms had disappeared with the curative opening, draining and 

cleaning of the wound, continued home wound care, and the oral antibiotic Keflex. No expert 

testified that an antibiotic needed to be changed if the patient got better on the initial 

treatment. As described by Dr. David, in his own practice diagnosis is usually made on the 

basis of clinical symptoms, and in this caseMs. Ward was examined for a wound infection, 

treated for a wound infection, her condition improved, and she did not return to UMMC. 

6. "In addition, Dr. Walter Wolfe, the physician who performed the 
hysterectomy on Ms. Ward, testified that oral Keflex would not be the 
drug of choice to treat Ms. Ward's infection." prief  of Appellee, p. 19.) 

The "infection" Dr. Wolfe obviously referenced was Ms. Ward's medical condition 

at CMMC, since Dr. Wolfe offered no opinion as to the events and treatment at UMMC. 

Plaintiff improperly attempted to use Dr. Wolfe's testimony concerning treatment for Ms. 

Ward's medical condition at CMMC to establish the appropriate treatment earlier at UMMC 

where Ms. Ward presented with very different symptoms, to which UMMC objects as 

improper and inadmissible. Plaintiffs subliminal suggestion that Ms. Ward had MRSA 

while at UMMC on March 18 and 27 is an unsupported assertion. 

7. "Dr. Wolfe did run the proper tests to diagnose Ms. Ward. Dr. Wolfc did 
perform a CBC, he did perform a blood culture and he did perform a 
wound culture. All of the things that the physicians should have done at 
UMMC." (Brief of Appellee, p. 19.) 

UMMC again strenuously objects to this inappropriate attempt to create expert 

testimony that UMMC breached the standard of care through Dr. Wolfe. He did testify 

that, based on his review of records and depositions and Ms. Ward's symptoms at UMMC 

on March 18 andor 27, that a CBC, blood culture and wound culture was required on those 



dates or would have avoided the outcome, nor would it have been admissible if he had so 

testified. 

Nonetheless, the April 5 WBC at CMMC was within the normal limits. The wound 

cultures performed in surgery were of the incision area and did not indicate what, if any, 

organism infected Ms. Ward's uterus. Finally, Dr. Wolfe never ordered blood cultures and 

plaintiffs assertion otherwise is simply mistaken. (T. 142-143, 584-585.) Thus, any 

suggestion that a WBC at UMMC would have been abnormal, or that blood or incision 

cultures would have revealed bacteria in Ms. Ward's is completely unfounded. 

8. "He had to perform a hysterectomy in order to save Ms. Ward's life." 
(Brief of Appellee, p. 20.) 

Dr. Wolfe testified that he ruled out a rare but often fatal condition called 

"necrotizing fasciitis" during surgery, but at no time did he offer an opinion that 3 

hvsterectomv was needed to save Ms. Ward's life as plaintiff improperly asserts. In reality, 

he testified that he performed the hysterectomy "for the best post-operative outcome" and 

"the absolute best benefit9'(T. 145, 152-154,172-174,183-184,126-189.) 

9. "Ms. Ward . . . will never he able to have children at the age of 
twenty."(Brief of Appellee, p. 20.) 

This statement is materially misleading, as plaintiff forgets that Ms. Ward is already 

the mother of two healthy, active sons. When Dr. Wolfe informed Ms. Ward that one of 

the possible risks of surgery was a hysterectomy, Ms. Ward responded that she did not want 

any more children and did not have a problem with a hysterectomy on that basis. (T. 145, 

173; R.E. 7, p. 9.) 

PlaintifUtrial court exceeded the minimum standard of care by requiring UMMC not 

only to correctly diagnose, but to "confirm" or "substantiate" the correct diagnoses of EMM 

on March 18 and incision infection on March 27 and to "verify" or "insure" that the medical 



treatment provided to Ms. Ward was "appropriate." (R.E. 7, p. 5; R.E. 10, p. 5 and 8.) 

Fatal to the plaintiffltrial court's lofty expectations, no expert testified that if the laboratory 

tests had been performed, they would have revealed results indicating that, more likely than 

not, the treatment provided for Ms. Ward's EMM and potential incision infection was 

appropriate. 

Even more pronounced than Dr. David's ambiguous testimony as to breach of duty, 

Dr. David did not establish that any of the alleged breaches by UMMC proximately and 

foreseeably caused Ms. Ward's hysterectomy on April 5,2004. (Brief of Appellee, p. 20.) 

"The plaintiff bears the burden of presenting significant probative evidence" of proximate 

cause in a negligence action. Mississippi Department of Transportation v. Cargile, 847 So. 

2d 258,262 7 1 l (Miss. 2003). In a medical malpractice action, the elements of negligence 

generally must be proven by expert testimony. Young v. University of Mississippi Medical 

Center, 914 So. 2d 1272,n 15 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). "Not only must this expert testimony 

identify and articulate the requisite standard that was not complied with, the expert testimony 

must also establish that the failure was the proximate cause, or proximate contributing cause, 

of the alleged injuries. Young at 7 15. In order to prevail in a medical malpractice action, a 

plaintiff must "show, by expert testimony, that the physician deviated from the appropriate 

standard of care and that deviation was the proximate cause of the injury of which the 

plaintiff complains." Mitchell v. University Hospitals and Clinics- Holmes County, 942 SO. 

2d 301 78 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). "An act which merely furnishes the condition or occasion 

upon which injuries are received, but which does not put in motion the agency by or through 

which the injuries are inflicted, does not constitute the proximate cause of the harm."Foster 

v. Bass, 575 So. 2d 967,982 (Miss. 1991). For a claim of negligence to stand, the injury must 

have been foreseeable from the point of view of the actor prior to the occurrence and must 



not be the result of an intervening cause. Foster at 975, 982. "Certainly no court has ever 

held that a physician is a warrantor of cures." Hawkins v. Ozborn, 383 F .  Supp. 1389, 1396 

(N.D. Miss. 1974.). 

Plaintiffs response on the element of proximate cause is a several page recitation of 

irrelevant testimony regarding standard of care. (Brief of Appellee, pp. 20-25.) However, 

testimony as to an alleged breach of the standard of care, even if credible, does not prove 

proximate causation, a separate element that must be proved to establish negligence. 

Dr. David's first statement addressing proximate cause is as follows: 

Q. When Ms. Ward was at the University Medical Center if they had 
performed a CBC and a wound culture and started her on the 
[unnamed] right antibiotic, would it have avoided and cured this 
[unspecified] condition that she later suffered with? 

A. More likely than not, it would have. 
Q. And is that your opinion based on a reasonable degree of medical 

probability? 
A. Yes, it is. 

(T. 280-282.) 

Here Dr. David's testimony was limited to agreementwith plaintiff counsel's vaguely 

worded statement. From the ambiguous language of this statement, it is impossible for the 

listenerlreader to know which date (March 18-20 or March 27) the laboratory tests should 

have been performed and the antibiotic administered, which antibiotic was the "right 

antibiotic", and what "condition" he agreed would have been "avoided and cured" (EMM, 

incision infection, MRSA, Group B Strep, hysterectomy, etc.). The listenerlreader is further 

left pondering how exactly a "condition" can be both "avoided" and "cured". 

Further, this testimony states that Ms. Ward's "condition" would have been both 

"avoided and cured" if only two tests had been performed (CBC and wound culture) and the 

"right antibiotic" given. As blood cultures, urinalysis, and continued Unasyn were 



identified, the listenerlreadermust conclude by this statement that Dr. David does not believe 

their omission at UMMC caused or contributed to plaintiffs "condition". This ambiguous 

agreement falls far short of proving to a reasonable probability that a specific breach of the 

standard of care at UMMC proximately caused or contributed to Ms. Ward's later alleged 

severe infection and hysterectomy. 

The second statement is as follows: 

Q. Do you have an opinion whether or not Ms. Ward's [unnamed] condition 
was-subsequent [unspecific] treatment was proximately caused by the 
[unidentified] negligence of the University Medical Center? 
(Objection and objection overruled) 

Q. And what is your opinion? 
A. Well, if you insert the words "lack of treatment," my answer is yes, I do 

have an opinion and that the opinion - or  the opinion is that the 
[unidentified] treatment or [unspecified] lack thereof fell below the 
standard of care, and that this - a [unnamed] deficiency below the 
standard of care was a direct and proximate cause of the [unspecified] 
problems suffered by Ms. Ward including that need for the 
hysterectomy. 
(T. 327.) 

The listener/reader is again left to fill in the gaps of what Dr. David have meant 

in this global, conclusory statement where he avoided the scrutiny possible with a clear and 

specific opinion. No reasonable explanation as to how one or more of the alleged breaches 

proximately caused Ms. Ward's hysterectomy was offered by any expert at trial. The trial 

court's finding of proximate cause was based entirely upon Dr. David's non-testimony and 

was expressed in the following conclusory statement covied directlv from plaintiffs trial 

brief: "Dr. David testified that Ms. Ward's resulting hysterectomy was proximately and 

foreseeably caused by defendant's negligence." (R.E. 7, p. 6; R.E. 10, p. 10.) Satisfied 

with unintelligible assertions of a breach of the standard of care and evidence of injury, the 

trial court made no attempt to discern which of the multiple alleged breaches of the standard 

of care proximately and foreseeably caused Ms. Ward's hysterectomy, nor how this was 



accomplished. Contrary to Mississippi law, the trial court did not require substantial, 

credible proof of this necessary element in finding for the plaintiff. 

The trial court copied verbatim from plaintiffs trial brief the section allegedly setting 

forth Dr. David's opinion in toto, including his alleged opinion as to the breaches of the 

standard of care. (R.E. 7, p. 6; R.E. 10, p. 10 and 13.) These alleged breaches of the 

standard of care are enumerated below. Each one can be refuted as lacking in testimonial 

support, relevance and/or reliability. It is important to remember that, even if one or more 

of the following assertions qualified as a breach of the standard of care (which defendant 

denies), this does not rescue plaintiffs lack of proximate cause testimony. 

1. A CBC on March 18, a CBC on March 27 - A  CBC is a diagnostic test and 
a baseline measurement, not a treatment therapy. Her WBC on April 5 was 
within the normal range, and Dr. David never opined that a CBC would have 
returned abnormal results if taken earlier on March 18 or 27, nor how the 
performance of this diagnostic test would, more likely than not, have led to 
a cure for Ms. Ward. 

2. A urinalysis on March 18 - A urinalysis is a diagnostic test to rule out a 
urinary tract infection. It is not a treatment therapy, nor did Dr. David explain 
how performance of anrinalysis would cure Ms. Ward's "problems". Further, 
a urinalysis was omitted as proximately causing plaintiffs "condition" in Dr. 
David's previous agreement. 

3. A blood culture on March 18, a blood culture on March 27 - A blood 
culture is not a treatment therapy, but is a diagnostic test to rule out bacteria 
in the bloodstream. Lack of a blood culture was not identified as a cause of 
plaintiffs "condition" in Dr. David's previous agreement. There was never 
anv evidence that Ms. Ward had bacteriain her bloodstream, nor was bacteria 
in Ms. Ward's bloodstream at issue in this case. Dr. David never opined how 
testing for bacteria in Ms. Ward's bloodstream would have cured Ms. Ward's 
uterus. 

4. A wound culture on March 18 - A wound culture is a diagnostic test, not 
a treatment therapy. Dr. David did not explain how or w& UMMC should 
have cultured Ms. Ward's incision on March 18 given her complete lack of 
incision drainage or other symptoms on that date. Dr. David testified that if 
a culture was done, 48 hours of antibiotic therapy should be given, 
unaware that this antibiotic alternative was substantially met. (T. 288.) A 
wound culture on March 27 - This opinion was based on Dr. David's 



incorrect assumption that there was purulent drainage to culture when Ms. 
Ward was examined at UMMC on March 27. Dr. David never opined what 
a wound culture would have revealed if taken on March 18 and 27, and he 
never testified how the mere performance of a wound culture test would have 
cured Ms. Ward. Further, Dr. Wolfe did not describe an incision infection as 
the reason he removed Ms. Ward's uterus. 

5. (An endometriaUcervical culture on March 18) - An endometrial/cervical 
culture is a diagnostic test, not a treatment therapy. This test was not planned 
by Dr. Austin and was not found by the trial court to be required. The medical 
records reveal no evidence of a resistant organism in Ms. Ward's uterus. Dr. 
David never opined what the results of an endometrial/cervical culture would 
have shown, nor how the mere performance of this diagnostic test would 
have cured Ms. Ward.) 

6 .  Fortv-eight hours of IV Unasvn therapy on March 18-20 - Dr. David 
asserted that 48 hours (8 doses) of Unasyn therapy was required in response 
to his mistaken belief that Ms. Ward had received only 24 hours of Unasyn 
therapy. Dr. David did not know that Ms. Ward actually received 42 hours 
of Unasyn therapy (7 doses), continued for approximately 48 hours after the 
decline of Ms. Ward's fever. Dr. David never testified that the single 
additional dose of Unasyn would have cured Ms. Ward and avoided her 
hysterectomy weeks later. (Plaintiffltrial court enhanced Dr. David's opinion 
by requiring that the IV therapy continue for 48 hours after she was free of 
smvtoms in reliance on the student guidelines.) 

7. Unsaecified IV or intramuscular antibiotic therapy on March 27 - Dr. 
David asserted that IV or intramuscular antibiotic therapy should have been 
prescribed on March 27 based on his inaccurate assumption that purulent 
drainage was present when Ms. Ward was examined at UMMC. Nonetheless, 
Dr. David never explained how receipt of an unspecified IV or intramuscular 
antibiotic on March 27 in treatment for an alleged incision infection would 
have spared Ms. Ward's uterus later at CMMC. (PlaintifUtrial court again 
enhanced Dr. David's opinion by requiring that Ms. Ward be admitted to the 
hospital on March 27.) 

Plaintiff also failed to prove that Ms. Ward's hysterectomy on April 5 at CMMC was 

a foreseeable consequence of the care received on March 18-20 and 27 at UMMC. Based 

on the principles as set forth in City ofJackson v. Estate of Stewart, 908 So. 2d 703 77 43- 

49 (Miss. 2005), to meet her burden of proof plaintiff would have had to establish that her 

hysterectomy at CMMC weeks after her care at UMMC was the "type of damage that is 

reasonably probable to occur from the alleged breaches of the standard of care set forth." Dr. 



David's limited testimony as to foreseeability was a blanket speculation that "if you don't 

treat endometritis," you can get various ailments. (T. 279-280.) This general testimony is 

moot and inapplicable to this case where Ms. Ward substantially received the amount of 

Unasyn Dr. David ,recommended in treatment of her EMM (endometritis). 

Plaintiff also ignores the intervening, superceding events that occurred between 

March 27 and the hysterectomy on April 5 which were outside the control of UMMC: (a) 

Ms. Ward's symptoms cleared and she sought no further care from UMMC; (b) the 

undisputed likelihood that any alleged MRSA or Group B Strep infection occurred after 

March 27 due to the short incubation period of MRSA bacteria and the typical rapid 

progression of Group B Strep bacteria; (c) and the discretionary decision by Dr. Wolfe to 

remove Ms. Ward's uterus "for the best post-operative outcome" and "the absolute best 

benefit" during exploratory surgery. (T. 152-1 54,172-174,183-184. ) Even a finding of 

contribution rather than proximate causationmust be supported by reliable expert testimony, 

which cannot be found in this case. 

With her barrage of factually incorrect and irrelevant assertions of breach of duty, 

plaintiff tempts the listenerlreader to conclude that surely one of her many assertions was an 

actual breach which could havepost hoc ergopropter hoc led to her hysterectomy. Cuevas 

v. DuPont DeNemours and Company, 956 F .  Supp. 1306, 1311 (S. D. Miss. 1997.) "It is 

the universal rule in tort actions that mere proof of injury complained of raises no 

presumption of negligence." City ofJackson v. Estate of Stewart 908 So. 2d 703,q 45 Miss. 

2005.) Simply because Ms. Ward developed a condition that led her treating physician at 

CMMC to perform a hysterectomy does not mean that her earlier care at UMMC caused that 

condition. A fair analysis of the evidence must conclude that no alleged breach of the 



standard of care proximately and foreseeably without intervening, superceding event, caused 

or contributed to Ms. Ward's later alleged severe infection and lor hysterectomy. 

E. The Trial Court Erred in Any Reliance upon the OBIGYN Department's 
Student Practice Guidelines as the Standard of Care in this Case. 

The UMMC guidelines were a list of possible diagnostic and treatment options 

created for student learning by the faculty of the OBIGYN department and used in 

conjunction with faculty supervision with the intent that they would be modified to fit the 

individual patient circumstance, and were never intended to represent the standard of care. 

(T. 203-206, 533-536, 593-595, 602; R.E. 11, p. 4.) Use of this student learning tool in a 

court of law, denying its very creators the right to modify their own tool used in their 

educational practice, discourages the creation of such valuable learning tools in general. (The 

guidelines were specifically for the treatment of EMM and not applicable to the incision 

symptoms onMarch 27.) (R.E. 4, pp. 8-10,16-17.) Despite the evidence, plaintiffs response 

asserts that Dr. David and the trial court did rely on the student guidelines to establish 

the standard of care. (Brief of Appellee, pp. 25-26.) In clear contradiction, plaintiff asserted 

that: 

Pursuant to the University of Mississippi Medical Center's - - 

own practice guidelines, these were the proper laboratory tests 
to perform for a patient with Endometritis (EMM). Ms. Ward 
was placed on unasyn, however the CBC, blood culture and 
urinalysis wereaperformed in direct violation ofthe proper 
standard of care. 

(Brief of Appellee, p. 4.) 

Dr. David relied upon the student guidelines as the standard of care for March 18, 

criticizing the physicians "for not following these guidelines." (T. 266-267, 269-270.) 

(Emphasis added.) In her Memorandum Opinion and Judgment, the trial court found that 

"Dr. Austin's plan for treatment of Ms. Ward's condition was consistent with UMMC's 



practices, procedures, and guidelines." (R.E. 7, p. 2.) (Emphasis added.) She also "found," 

without expert support, that "the evidence supports Plaintiffs contention that UMMC's 

guidelines for treatment and release of apatient who has been diagnosed with EMM required 

that Ms. Ward remain on antibiotics until she was symptom free of infection for 48 hours." 

(R.E. 7, p. 2.) (Emphasis added.) At trial the court stated an opinion that: 

There were follow-up tests that were consistent with thc 
guidelines of the University Medical Center. That Dr. Austin 
appears to have followed those guidelines in terms of fnture 
assessment. But there's nothing in the record to indicate that - 
there were any tests done to determine - I believe it was the 
reason for the elevated temperature, no blood culture, no urine 
analysis. I can't remember the others, but the record will 
speak for itself." 

(T. 376-377.) 

Notwithstanding, the physicians atUMMC correctly diagnosedMs. Ward's presumed 

EMM and substantially complied with the treatment guidelines in the Unasyn therapy 

provided. The trial court's reliance upon the student guidelines to establish a duty for 

UMMC was a clear error of law and should be reversed. 

F. The Trial Court Erred in Denying UMMC's Motion for Directed Verdict 
(Involuntary Dismissal). 

Defendant's motion for directed verdict was in actuality amotion for dismissal under 

Miss. R. Civ. P. 41(h). Plaintiff points out that if a defendant proceeds with his case after a 

denial of the motion to dismiss, then defendant waives its appeal of this issue. Centuly 21 

Deep South Properties, Ltd. v. Corson, 612 So. 2d 359 (Miss. 1992). The language of Rule 

41(b) clearly states that defendant does not waive his right to offer evidence in the event the 

motion is not granted. Although defendant continued with the offering of its evidence atter 

the trial court denied its motion as the only practical course to follow, it renewed its motion 

at the close of defendant's case, which the trial court likewise denied. (T. 372-377, 61 1 .) 



Defendant again asserts that, after a fair consideration ofthe evidence, the record is clear that 

plaintiff failed to prove each of the four elements of negligence at trial, and thus dismissal 

was proper. Partlow v. McDonald, 877 So. 2d 414,416 7 7 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003). 

VI. CONCLUSION 

UMMC offered numerous qualified experts who testified that it met or exceeded the 

standard of care in the trcatmcnt Ms. Ward received on March 18 and 27, after which her 

symptoms disappeared. UMMC's experts further testified that no allegedly negligent 

omission by UMMC proximately caused or contributed to Ms. Ward's later alleged infection 

and hysterectomy at CMMC. Plaintiff offered no credible, reliable, and relevant testimony 

to prove otherwise. 

The fabric ofplaintiff s trial story was woven of fragile lace, filled with spaces where 

the facts, evidence and expert testimony at trial did not support her story. PlaintiffXrial court 

improperly filled the gaps with a patchwork of innuendo, forgotten or ignored facts, and 

enhanced testimony. The trial court abused its discretion in so doing, and reversal of her 

judgment in favor of the plaintiff is warranted based on the actual facts and testimony. 

Therefore, UMMC respectfully requests this Honorable Court to reverse the ruling ofthe trial 

court and dismiss UMMC from this action, with prejudice. 

VII. RESPONSE TO CROSS-APPEAL 

A. Plaintiff inappropriately requested an additur for non-economic damages. 

Without waiver of defendant's position that the trial court erred by ruling in favor of 

the plaintiff, defendant requests this Honorable Court to deny plaintiffs request to increase 

her award for damages. At trial, the court awarded $127,040.00 to the plaintiff, including 

$52,040.00 in compensation for medical bills with the explicit finding that "[nlo evidence 

was presented of future medical or lost wages." (R.E. 7, p. 9.) The trial court then awarded 



Ms. Ward $25,000 for past mental anguish and emotional distress associated with her 

injuries and $50,000 in past pain and suffering, again with the explicit finding that "no 

evidence of future mental anguish, future pain and suffering nor permanent disfigurement 

was evidenced at trial." (R.E. 7, pp. 9-10.) As the trial court noted in her Memorandum 

Opinion and Judgment, " . . . the evidence indicates that Ms. Ward indicated to Dr. Wolfe 

that shc no longer desired to have more children before her surgeiy at CMMC," thus the trial 

court expresslv declined to award damages for this alleged injury. (R.E. 7, p. 9; T. 145-147, 

172-176; T.E. D-2,366,415.) Although the trial court made no specific mention of damages 

for loss of enjoyment of life, it is noted that plaintiff did not expressly request damages for 

loss of enjoyment of life in her complaint nor her trial brief of the plaintiff. (R.E. 10, pp. 14- 

15.) 

In her cross-appeal, plaintiffnow requests the Supreme Court to amend the findings 

of the trial court, adding amounts for past and future pain and suffering, past and future 

mental and emotional suffering, and loss of enjoyment of life, totaling a damage award of 

$652,039.31, an amount greater than the $500,000 statutory limit. Plaintiff filed no motion 

requesting an additur with the trial court as is the procedure for additur under Miss. Code 

Ann. 5 11-1-55; therefore no denial of additur by the trial court is at issue. Matters not 

presented to the trial court are improperly presented to the Supreme Court for review on 

procedural grounds, and defendant therefore requests the Court to deny plaintiffs request for 

additur. Pittman v. Pittman, 909 So. 2d 148 7 13 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). 

However, if plaintiffs request for additional damages is considered by the Supreme 

Court, the plaiutiff (as the party seeking the additional damages) must actuallv prove her 

injuries and damages. Harvey v. Wall, 649 So. 2d 184, 187 (Miss. 1995). "The burden of 

proving injury and other damages falls to the party seeking the additur. "Doe v. North Panola 



School District, 906 SO. 2d 57,P 9 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004). Review of a trial court's grant or 

denial of an additur is limited to an abuse of discretion. Maddox v. Muirhead, 738 So. 2d 

742, l  5 (Miss. 1999). Evidence is reviewed in the light most favorable to the defendant. 

Maddox at 7 5. Additurs "should never be employed without great caution." Maddox at 7 5. 

An additur may only be granted if the court finds that the jury was influenced by bias, 

prcjudicc or passion or if the damages wcrc c o n t r q  to the overwhelming wcight of crcdible 

evidence. Pham v. Welter, 542 So. 2d 884, 888 (Miss. 1989). 

B. An award for additional damages or additur is unsupported by case law. 

Plaintiff asserts UMMC was found "100% liable," although nowhere did the trial 

court state this opinion. (Brief of Appellee, pp. 29,3 1,32;  R.E. 7, p. 9.) In reality, the trial 

court wavered that "defendant's failure proximately caused contributed to Ms. Ward 

subsequent injuries." (R.E. 7, p. 9.) (Emphasis added.) 

Plaintiff relies incorrectly on Copeland v. City of Jackson, 548 So. 2d 970 (Miss. 

1989) for her contention that an additional award for pain and suffering and mental pain and 

suffering are justified in her case. In Copeland the plaintiff, who was in his 20's, suffered 

two fractured vertebrae as a result of an automobile accident, requiring three surgical 

procedures with insertion of acrylic rods, decreased physical activity, and interference with 

his educational plans. Copeland at 971-974. He also experienced a reduced sense of pain, 

a lack of sensation in certain portions of his body with fatigue, problems sleeping, and daily 

suffering of pain. Copeland at 971-974. The unfortunate plaintiff also provided testimony 

of physician diagnosed depression and his dramatically decreased sexual urges due to 

reduced sensitivity from the chest level down. Copeland at 971-974. 

Unlike Ms. Ward, the Court in Copeland specifically noted that plaintiff had put on 

extensive testimony regarding the plaintiffs "prior good health, medical expenses, pain and 



suffering and permanent physical impairment," including testimony from the plaintiff, 

witnesses, and an expert as to the future psychological effect of the injury. Copeland at 974. 

Based on the extensive evidence presented, the Supreme Court affirmed the trial court's 

grant of plaintiffs motion for additur, granting the plaintiff $350,000. The Court explicitly 

based its ruling of the extensive amount of testimony presented. Copeland at 974. 

Plaintiff also relied on Pham v. Welter, 542 So. 2d 884 (Miss. 1989) in support ofher 

request for additional damages for pain and suffering. This reliance was also misplaced as, 

again unlike Ms. Ward, the plaintiff in Pham put on substantial proof of past and expected 

severe pain and suffering. Pham at 888- 889. In Pham, the plaintiff was involved in a head 

on collision where he suffered considerable injuries and was taken to the hospital where he 

responded only to painful stimuli. He had a severe head injury, swelling of the right jaw, 

non-reactive pupil ofthe right eye, a large bruise on his cheek and abdomen, and fracture and 

swelling of the right femur. Pham at 888. Pham showed that as a result of the accident, he 

had internal bleeding, and underwent exploratory surgery, where a lacerated kidney and tom 

liver and spleen were found. Pham at 888. He then had another surgical procedure to repair 

his leg injured in the accident where a metal nail was inserted. Unlike Ms. Ward, Pham put 

on proof at trial of future injury where he would require further surgery to remove the nail. 

Phnnz at 888. In addition to several other hospital procedures, Pham was in the ICU for 12 

days and spent approximately six weeks total in the hospital. Pham at 888. Following his 

hospitalization, Pham proved that he had to use crutches for several more weeks, after which 

he walked with a limp and complained of pain in his leg, neck and tenderness in his thigh 

area. Pham at 888. He further proved that the ordeal resulted in a slight deformity to his leg, 

and the metal in his leg caused him continued pain. Pham at 888-889. 



Unlike the testimony offered by Ms. Ward, Pharn offered proof of past and future 

medical expenses as well as proof of lost wages and future disability related to his leg injury. 

Pham at 889. The jurygrantedpham $30,000 in damages which calculated to $1,327.30 for 

pain and suffering (before reduction for his 60 percent negligence). The Supreme Court 

ovenuled the trial court's denial of Pham's motion for additur because, unlike Ms. Ward, 

Pham offered substantial proof of his past and future pain and suffering and disability at trial, 

granting him a total of $60,000 in damages and permanent partial disability (again before 

reduction for his 60 percent negligence). Pham at 887-889. 

The case law offered by the plaintiff does not assist her position that she should be 

granted an additur where, unlike Ms. Ward, the plaintiffs in both Copeland and Pham 

presented extensive proof to the jury of their past and future pain and suffering. Thus, 

plaintiffs request for additur is ill-conceived and unsupported by the evidence at trial. More 

applicable to this case, defendant offers the following authority that adequate proof of a 

plaintiffs pain and suffering must be presented at trial to support her claim for damages 

before an award can be granted. 

In a bench trial where the plaintiff had requested the trial court to grant an additur for 

additional damages for pain and suffering, the Supreme Court affirmed the denial of the 

additur in DePriest v. Barber, 798 So. 2d 456, (Miss. 2001.) The plaintiff in DePriest 

suffered damages in an automobile accident which caused her vehicle to flip, where she 

suffered both personal injuries and property damages in the collision. DePriest at 7 2. The 

plaintiff underwent testing at the hospital and sustained injuries to her neck, back and wrist, 

experienced headaches, and was eventually diagnosed as having muscle spasms and sprains 

to the back and neck with testimony that this caused her pain and suffering for at least six 

months. DePriest at 7 3. Her out-of-pocket expenses and lost wages were awarded by the 



trial court totaling $8,730.95, and she was also awarded $3,269.05 in pain and suffering by 

the trial court. DePriest at 11. The Supreme Court affirmed the trial court's denial of an 

additur, finding that "[olver a fourth of the total damages was allocated for pain and 

suffering, which is more than adequate compensation given the facts of the case." DePriest 

at7 11. 

When damages for pain and suffering are claimed, the plaintiffmust put on sufficient 

proof to support that said pain and suffering occurred. Doe v. North Panola School District, 

906 So. 2d 57,77 11-16,20-21. In affirming the trial court's denial of an additur for pain 

and suffering damages where no award for pain and suffering had been granted, the trial 

court in Doe found that the plaintiff (a retarded child) had put on no proof that she had 

experienced pain and suffering after experiencing repeated sexual assaults. The Supreme 

Court affirmed the trial court's denial of an additur where, similar to Ms. Ward's case, there 

was a lack of evidence presented at trial, thus no award was added for the plaintiffs claim 

ofpain and suffering. Doe at 77 11-16,20-21 

C. The evidence presented at trial does not support an additional award for 
damages nor the current award of damages. 

In her cross-appeal as with her case-in-chief, Ms. Ward misleadingly enhanced the 

scant testimony presented at trial regarding her alleged pain and suffering and mental 

damages. Specifically, plaintiff misrepresented the facts in following material statements: 

1. "As a result of the negligence of the Defendants, Ms. Ward had to 
undergo a hysterectomy, a major surgery, in which her uterus had to be 
removed. (Brief of Appellee, p. 30.) 

Plaintiff forgets that her hysterectomy was performed as part of an exploratory 

surgery to assess the cause of her alleged symptoms. UMMC should not be liable for those 



portions of Ms. Ward's stay at CMMC not proven at trial to have been caused by the alleged 

negligence of UMMC. 

2. "It was an uncontested fact during the trial that as a result of the 
operation, Ms. Ward would never be able to bear children, which she 
testified was her intention." (Brief of Appellee, p. 30.) 

As plaintiff dismisses that Ms. Ward has already borne two healthv sons, it is a 

misleading characterization to say that she "would never be able to bear children." (T. 360; 

R.E. 7, p. 9.) The trial court found that as Ms. Ward had expressed to Dr. Wolfe before 

surgery that she did not want additional children, no award for damages for this issue was 

warranted. (R.E. 7, p. 9.) Further, as Ms Ward's ovaries were left intact, Dr. Wolfe testified 

there is the potential for additional children as an egg donor. (T. 183-184.) 

3. "Earquella testified about how losing her uterus at such a young age has 
devastated her emotional well being, energy level and her ability to 
maintain relationships." (Brief of Appellee, p. 30.) 

This statement is an exaggeration of Ms. Ward's extremely limited and potentially 

self-serving testimony as to how the hysterectomy allegedly affected her emotional well- 

being, testimony uncorroborated by any medical evidence nor the testimony of witnesses. 

Ms. Ward described herself as having less energy, and her current emotional state as "a 

wreck" where she is angry and argues a lot, coming across as "mean." (T. 359.) However, 

there was no testimony establishing that she was pJ tired, angry, or argumentative prior to 

the hysterectomy. Further, there are other obvious factors in play that would likely affect the 

average person's energy level, relationships, and disposition, such as Ms. Ward's weighty 

responsibilities as an unemployed, single parent of two active young children in her early 

twenties. (T. 330, 360-363.) Notwithstanding plaintiffs claim of alleged emotional 

devastation and a compromised ability to maintain relationships, Ms. Ward has moved on 

with her life and was engaged to be married at the time of the trial. (T. 328-329,355,361.) 



4. "Dr. Wolf testified to the seriousness of the surgery and that it could be 
fatal" (Brief of Appellee, p. 30.) 

This statement misrepresents Dr. Wolfe's testimony. Dr. Wolfe thought that Ms. 

Ward have had necrotizing fasciitis, a potentially fatal condition of the abdominal 

fascia, which was immediately ruled out during surgery. He never testified that the 

exploratory surgery itself nor the hysterectomy were possibly fatal beyond normal risks of 

surgery. (T. 145, 152, 154, 172, 183-184.) 

5. "Earquella also testified that she continued to have yeast infections as a 
result of the surgery." (Brief of Appellee, p. 31.) 

Although Ms. Ward testified that she has yeast infections and has been to see an 

unnamed physician, she is not professionally qualified to testifythat her yeast infections were 

caused by the surgery, particularly as her testimony was confusing as to whether she had 

similar vaginal infections to the surgery also. (T. 358.) 

6. This case involves "severe and permanent injuries to a child." (Brief of 
Appellee, pp. 32-33.) 

Ms. Ward was 20 years old at the time of the incident in 2002 and 23 years old at the 

time of trial. She was the mother of two children with some college education, had her own 

address and was engaged to be married. To describe her as a "child" in 2002 or 2005 is an 

obviously inaccurate description and self-serving characterization. 

Further, no expert testimony was offered at trial that Ms. Ward had suffered "severe 

and permanent injuries." No expert testified regarding the expected present and future 

mental andfor physical effects ofremoval of the uterus (apart from the inability to physically 

give birth to another child, which was specifically addressed by the trial court). Dr. Wolfe 

testified at trial regarding Ms. Ward's post surgical office visits and recovery, where he 

described a normal vaginal examination with a return to sexual activity. (T. 177-170.) 



During the weeks following surgery, Dr. Wolfe described where he drained a small 

pus pocket near her incision and was "fussing" at her for failing to take the oral antibiotics 

he had prescribed for her. (T. 180-1 82.) (As the exploratory laparotomy was performed in 

the same incision previously used for the Cesarean section, there was no new incision or 

scar.) (T. 146.) Dr. Wolfe also chastised Ms. Ward for wearing her jeans extremely tight 

over her healing incision, cutting off the blood flow, slowing the healing process and 

potentially trapping infectious material in the incision area. (T. 182-183.) Dr. Wolfe then 

testified regarding his notation in themedical records where Ms. Ward informed him that she 

thought, unless he had done something wrong, she would not have an infection. (T. 177- 

184, D-14, pp. 621-625.) Ms. Ward healed from her surgery, and there is no medical 

testimony beyond that point. 

Ms. Ward testified that she has never been told by aphysician that she could not work 

and has been employed at least once since the surgery. Her decision not to return to school 

was a personal choice.(T. 330-331, 362 - 363.) She testified that no physician has talked 

with her about the need for hormone medication, either now or in the future. (T. 359-360.) 

There was no testimony at trial that her ability to care for her two "very healthy", "pretty 

energetic and smart" sons has been compromised. (T. 360.) 

7. "Plaintiff put forward credible evidence, that due to the infection and 
subsequenthysterectomy,Ms. Ward will have future pain and suffering 
related to her injuries, for the rest of her life." (Brief of the Appellee, p. 
31.) 

As found by the trial court, Ms. Ward put on no proofof future mental anguish, future 

pain and suffering, nor was a new surgical incision made at CMMC. (R.E. 7, p. 9-10.) She 

left proof of her past and future pain and suffering, past and future mental pain and 



suffering, and loss of enjoyment of life to the imagination of the court, relying on supposition 

and innuendo. 

Even more disturbing, to support the award ofdamages at trial for pain and suffering, 

the trial court "found" that "Ms. Ward stated that as a result of her infection and subsequent 

hysterectomy, she has experienced severe depression and hormonal mood swings," again 

copying verbatim a sentence from the Trial Brief of the Plaintiff. (R.E. 7, p. 9; R.E.10, p. 8.) 

Notwithstanding this "finding", Ms. Ward never testified that she experienced depression, 

nor did any witness or exoert testify that she experienced depression, and the trial court 

abused her discretion with this finding. (T. 328- 371.) As to the "finding" of "hormonal 

mood swings," Ms. Ward actuallv testified that no physician had spoken with her about the 

need for hormone medication, despite her testimony that she has to "constantly go to the 

doctor" for her alleged yeast infections. (T. 359-360.) As expert opinion was required to 

establish that Ms. Ward (whose ovaries were left intact) was experiencing mood swings 

caused by a hormone imbalance related to the hysterectomy, the trial court erred in awarding 

damages on this basis. Thus the trial court's award of $25.000 in vast mental anwish and 

emotional distress and $50.000 in oast pain and suffering was unsupported bv the evidence 

presented to the trial court and should. at a minimum, be decreased. 

Should this Honorable Court decline to overrule the trial court as to liability as 

requested and if this Honorable Court considers the propriety of the damage award pursuant 

to plaintiffs cross-appeal, UMMC respectfully requests this Honorable Court to recognize 

that the trial court erred in awarding damages of $25,000 for past mental anguish and 

emotional distress and $50,000 in past pain and suffering as unsupported by the scant, self- 

serving testimony of Ms. Ward at trial, with no corroborating witnesses or evidence nor 

expert support. Therefore, defendant respectfully requests this Honorable Court to deny 



plaintiffs request for additional damages as completely without proof at trial, and also to 

decrease the current award of damages to that amount credibly supported by the extremely 

limited evidence presented at trial. Foremost, however, defendant respectfklly requests this 

Honorable Court to reverse the trial court's unsupported finding of liability against UMMC, 

and dismiss it from this action with prejudice. 

Dated this the 1, $%ay of April, 2007. 
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